1991

Joseph D. Sanders and Cheryl M. Sanders v. Martin
S. Ovard, Reva S. Ovard, Ben F. Ovard, Helen T.
Ovard and Jax Hayes Pettey: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of this court is properly based upon Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and pursuant to §78-2-2(3)(j) Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended).

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order signed and entered by the Honorable Frank G. Noel on March 29, 1991, which clarified a previous judgment and order regarding non-judicial foreclosure of the property which was the subject of the litigation.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Were Defendants Ovard required by §78-37-1 Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) to pursue the non-judicial foreclosure of Plaintiffs' property as the second trust deed holders before seeking a deficiency judgment against the Plaintiffs?

Standard of Review:

The trial court's interpretation of a statute presents a question of law and such conclusions of law are accorded no particular deference but reviewed for correctness. Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757 (Utah 1990).

2. Should the Defendants' damages have been limited to the difference between the fair market value of Plaintiffs' property and the judgment awarded them on June 6, 1988, due to their voluntary refusal to immediately pursue the non-judicial foreclosure sale?

Standard of Review:

The trial court's interpretation of a statute presents a question of law and such conclusions of law are accorded no particular deference but reviewed for correctness. Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757 (Utah 1990).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTE

§78-37-1 Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) attached as "Addendum."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. A judgment was rendered against the Plaintiffs in the above-entitled action on June 6, 1988. (R. 210-215)

2. The terms of that judgment awarded Defendants \$40,600.50 and provided that, among other things, the property which was the subject of that litigation be sold by a trustee's sale and that Defendants be awarded a deficiency judgment after crediting Plaintiffs with the fair market value of the property on the date of sale. (R. 213)

3. The subject property was subsequently sold by MountainWest Savings (the first trust deed holder) on September 1, 1989. This sale occurred nearly 3 months after judgment was awarded to the Defendants, giving them the right to immediately sell the property after posting notice of the sale. (R. 297, Exhibit "A")

4. At the time of the sale the subject property was worth approximately \$130,000 but it was sold by MountainWest for a bid of approximately \$107,000. (R. 297, Exhibit "A", 324-325)

5. Defendants were obligated under §78-37-1 Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) to pursue the property first and yet they failed to do so, despite having the ability and opportunity. (R. 303-305)

6. Rather, Defendants voluntarily delayed their sale and allowed the bank to proceed with its foreclosure so that they could bid on the property in that sale and still retain their judgment against the Plaintiffs. (R. 347-350)

7. On August 7, 1990, Defendants filed a motion with the trial court seeking entry of a deficiency judgment in the amount of their judgment plus interest and attorney's fees. Defendants subsequently withdrew that motion on August 31, 1990. (R. 289-297, 329)

8. Plaintiffs then filed a Motion for Order Clarifying Judgment which sought to have the trial judge limit the 1988 judgment to those amounts which exceed the fair market value of the property at the time Defendants could have sold it but failed to. (R. 331-337)

9. The trial judge ruled that his judgment did not require the Defendants Ovard to proceed on a non-judicial foreclosure sale under their trust deed and that Order is being appealed in this matter. (Order dated March 29, 1991)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellants/Sanders contend that §78-37-1 Utah Code Ann. compelled the Ovarids to pursue the property which secured their

judgment for satisfaction of that judgment. The Ovarads' failure to execute upon the property should bar them from recovering from the Sanders.

Alternatively, the Sanders argue that they are being penalized by the Ovarads' failure to protect their security interest in the property under §78-37-1. The Ovarads' judgment should be reduced by the amount of equity which was lost when MountainWest Savings foreclosed on their first trust deed.

INTRODUCTION

The facts in this case present an unusual situation for the application of §78-37-1 (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "One-Action Rule"). The cases interpreting this statute generally involve second trust deed holders seeking to enforce a contract after the property securing the obligation has been lost. In this case, the Defendants Ovard were awarded and continue to hold a judgment against the Plaintiff Sanders.

The issue raised here concerns the application of the one-action rule to the Ovard judgment which was initially secured by the Sanders property.

ARGUMENT

DEFENDANTS ARE PRECLUDED FROM EXECUTING ON THE FULL AMOUNT OF THEIR JUDGMENT WHERE THEY FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE ONE-ACTION RULE §78-37-1 UTAH CODE ANN.

When this action was initiated in July of 1985, the Sanders sought and received, pursuant to stipulation, a permanent injunction restraining the Ovarads from foreclosing on the

property. Two years later the Ovarads filed a counterclaim seeking a judicial foreclosure of the Sanders property. On June 6, 1988, Judge Noel signed the Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure which awarded the Ovarads a money judgment in the amount of \$40,600.50. A copy of that Judgment is attached hereto as "Addendum". In addition, that judgment affirmed the Ovarads' lien on the property and addressed the foreclosure on the property. Paragraph 6 reads as follows:

Defendants shall be entitled to complete their non-judicial foreclosure of the Trust Deed. All requirements for such foreclosure are deemed to have complied with except for the giving and posting of notice of sale, which must still be accomplished by Defendants. Pursuant to law applicable to trust deed sales there shall be no redemption rights after sale, and **any deficiency shall be limited to the difference between amounts owed by Plaintiffs to Defendants hereunder, plus any subsequent allowable costs and fees, and the fair market value of the Property at the date of sale.** In the event of a deficiency and an action by Defendants therefor, such action may be pursued by motion and evidentiary hearing in this action without the necessity of Defendants commencing a new and separate action. (emphasis added)

It is, and has been, the Sanders' position that Paragraph 6 contemplates that the Ovarads promptly pursue the sale of the property to satisfy all or a portion of their judgment. Instead, the Ovarads were negotiating with MountainWest in an attempt to purchase the property from them at their foreclosure sale. In a questionable procedure, MountainWest accepted a bid from Ovard at the sale on June 6, 1988, subject to certain terms and

conditions. Ovard was unable to meet those conditions and the property was subsequently sold on September 1, 1988.

The Ovards then sought to execute on the full amount of their judgment against the Sanders claiming that their security in the property had been extinguished by the MountainWest foreclosure. Sanders objected on the basis that there was equity in the property which would have satisfied the Ovard judgment and the Ovards had a duty to pursue that remedy under §78-37-1.

The Ovards rely upon the exception to the one-action rule which would relieve them from pursuing the security where it has been lost or disposed of without any fault on their part.

Lockhart Co. v. Equitable Realty Co., 657 P.2d 1333, 1335 (Utah 1983); Utah Mortgage and Loan Co. v. Black, 618 P.2d 43, 45 (Utah 1980). In response to Plaintiffs' Motion to Clarify Judgment, the Ovards argued that they fell within this exception as MountainWest foreclosed upon the property and extinguished their lien.

A. **The Ovards Failed to Protect Their Interest in the Property.**

The exception to the one-action rule applies only where it is established that the security was lost without fault or blameworthy conduct on the part of the creditor. Lockhart Co. v. Equitable Realty Co., 657 P.2d 1333, 1335 (Utah 1983); Utah Mortgage and Loan Co. v. Black, 618 P.2d 43, 45 (Utah 1980); Cache Valley Banking Co. v. Logan, 56 P.2d 1046, 1049 (Utah

1936). The question of what types of conduct preclude a creditor from seeking a deficiency was addressed in First Security Bank of Utah, N.A. v. Felger, 658 F. Supp. 175 (D. Utah 1987) which interpreted Utah law. In his opinion, Judge Winder found that recovery by a secured creditor was barred when:

(1) the creditor lost its lien because of failure to record a notice of assignment of mortgage, Donaldson v. Grant, 15 Utah 231, 49 P. 799 (1897); (2) the creditor released its lien because of its belief that there was no equity in the collateral, Lockhart, supra; (3) the creditor disposed of the collateral by private sale under an illegal self-help remedy, Rein v. Callaway, 7 Idaho 634, 65 P. 63 (1901) (cited with approval by the Utah Supreme Court in Black, supra); and (4) the creditor lost its interest in the collateral because of its failure to present a claim in a related probate proceeding, Hibernia Savings & Loan Society v. Thornton, 109 Cal. 427, 42 P. 447 (1895) (cited with approval in Black).

Id. at 182 (cited with approval in City Consumer Services, Inc. v. Peters, 815 P.2d 234 (Utah 1991)). Sanders contends that the Ovarads' failure to pursue the remedy awarded to it by the trial court is "blameworthy" and should bar them from seeking a deficiency from the Sanders.

The trial judge recognized that there was equity in the subject property which is why he allowed them to proceed with the sale and limited any deficiency to the difference between the fair market value of the property and any amounts still owing to the Defendants. Ovarads' failure to protect their equity is clearly blameworthy and should preclude them from pursuing Sanders for a deficiency. At a minimum, the Ovarads should have

their judgment reduced by the difference between the fair market value of the property when sold by MountainWest and the amount paid by MountainWest.

B. Sanders is Penalized by the Ovars' Failure to Protect Their Interest in the Property.

The equities involved in this case demand that the Ovars be barred from pursuing their judgment or, in the alternative, that the judgment be reduced as set forth above. Judge Noel awarded the Ovars a money judgment and anticipated that they would initially proceed against the real property to collect it. The equity was there until MountainWest foreclosed on the property in September of 1988. In fact, the Ovars were attempting to purchase the property from MountainWest at approximately the same time as judgment was entered.

In failing to protect their interest in the property, the Ovars have effectively penalized Sanders in an amount equivalent to the equity which existed in the property when it was sold by MountainWest. Had the Ovars bid unconditionally at the sale conducted by MountainWest, Sanders would only be required to pay to them a deficiency as contemplated by Judge Noel's Order. Instead, the Ovars' inaction has allowed them to pursue Sanders for the full amount of the judgment plus the interest which is accruing thereon.

A similar issue was recently presented to this court in City Consumer Services, Inc. v. Peters, 815 P.2d 234 (Utah 1991). That case, however, is not dispositive of the present situation. In Peters, as in most cases involving this statute, the issue is whether the previously secured creditor can bring an action on the underlying obligation. Here, however, the Ovards had already brought their action in a counterclaim, prevailed at trial, received a money judgment and all but completed their foreclosure.

CONCLUSION


The Sanders are asking this court for two alternative forms of relief. The first would be to find that, pursuant to §78-37-1 Utah Code Annotated and the Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure, the Ovards were obligated to pursue the security for their judgment and as a result of their failure to do so, they should be barred from recovering their judgment against the Sanders.

In the alternative, Sanders ask that this court reduce the Ovard judgment by the difference between the amount paid by MountainWest for the property of \$107,000 and the fair market value of the property of \$130,000 at the time of sale on the basis that equity demands that Sanders not be penalized for the Ovards' decision to sit back and allow MountainWest to foreclose.