1991

Joseph D. Sanders and Cheryl M. Sanders v. Martin  
S. Ovard, Reva S. Ovard, Ben F. Ovard, Helen T.  
Ovard, and Jax Hayes Pettey : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

### JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1988, as amended).

### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is an creditor precluded from collecting on a judgment arising out of a debt secured by a second trust deed on real property when by the time such creditor is able to foreclose on the property a first trust deed holder on the same property has already commenced foreclosure proceedings and thereafter forecloses ahead of such judgment creditor.

The trial court's ruling on this issue is a conclusion of law. Trial court conclusions of law are accorded no particular deference and are reviewed for correctness. Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757 (Utah 1990).

2. Should the amount which can be collected on the judgment referred to in issue no. 1. above be limited to the fair market value of the property securing the trust deeds and the amount of the judgment.

The trial court's ruling on this issue is a conclusion of law. Trial court conclusions of law are accorded no particular deference and are reviewed for correctness. Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757 (Utah 1990).

### RELEVANT STATUTES

Form of Action -- Judgment -- Special Execution.

There can be one action for the recovery of any debt or the enforcement of any rights secured solely by mortgage upon real estate, which action must be in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. Judgment shall be given adjudging the amount due, with costs in disbursements and the sale of mortgage property, or some part thereof, to satisfy said amount and accruing costs, and directing the sheriff to proceed and sell the same according to the provisions of law relating to sales on execution, and a special execution or order of sale shall be issued for that purpose.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-37-1 (1953)

Sale of trust property by trustee -- action to recover balance due upon obligation for which trust deed was given as security -- Collection of costs and attorney's fees.

At any time within three months after any sale of property under a trust deed, as hereinabove provided, an action may be commenced to recover the balance due upon the obligation for which the trust deed was given as security, and in such action the complaint shall set forth the entire amount of the indebtedness which was secured by such trust deed, the amount for which such property was sold, and the fair market value thereof at the date of sale. Before rendering judgment, the court shall find the fair market value at the date of sale of the property sold. The court may not render judgment for more than the amount by which the amount of the indebtedness with interest, costs, and expenses of sale, including trustee's and attorney's fees, exceeds the fair market value of the property as of the date of the sale. In any action brought under this section, the prevailing party shall be entitled to collect its costs and reasonable attorney fees incurred in bringing an action under this section.



Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 (1953).

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature Of The Case, Course Of Proceedings  
And Disposition In The Court Below**

This action and lower Court proceedings involved a complaint by Plaintiffs/Appellants Joseph D. Sanders and Cheryl M. Sanders (hereinafter collectively, "Sanders") seeking relief against Defendants/Appellees Martin S. Ovard, Reva S. Ovard, Ben F. Ovard and Helen Ovard (hereinafter collectively, "Ovards") and Jax Hayes Pettey who was the trustee under a trust deed given by Sanders to Ovards. Sanders' Complaint alleged fraud on the part of Ovards in the sale of real property by Ovards to Sanders and sought relief in the form of damages or, in the alternative, rescission of contract and for injunctive relief precluding Ovards from continuing foreclosure proceedings upon real property under a trust deed given by Sanders to Ovards. Ovards' counterclaimed seeking judgment against Sanders on a promissory note given by Sanders to Ovards and seeking judicial foreclosure of the trust deed given by Sanders to Ovards to secure such note. After trial the lower court entered judgment denying relief to Sanders, awarding monetary judgment to Ovards and allowing Ovards to conclude their non-judicial foreclosure proceeding. Such judgment was previously affirmed by the Utah Court of Appeals on an appeal by Sanders.

### Statement of Facts

1. In September 1982, Ovarids' sold to Sanders certain residential real property located in Draper, Salt Lake County, State of Utah (the "Property"), and as a part of the purchase price, Sanders gave to Ovarids a promissory note (the "Note") secured by a second trust deed on the Property (the "Trust Deed"). (R. 201-202).

2. Sanders made only one payment required under the Note, and Defendants attempted to foreclose the Trust Deed in non-judicial trust deed foreclosure proceedings. (R. 204-205).

3. Such trust deed foreclosure proceedings were enjoined after Sanders commenced this action, and Ovarids then filed a counterclaim to foreclose the Trust Deed in the manner provided by law for the foreclosure of mortgages on real property. (R. 204-205).

4. Sanders raised election of remedies as a defense to Ovarids' counterclaim, and the parties and the lower court, in conference prior to trial, resolved the issue of election of remedies by requiring that if Ovarids prevailed at trial they would not continue with the judicial mortgage foreclosure, but would proceed with their non-judicial trust deed foreclosure procedure. (R. 203).

5. The lower Court concluded that Sanders had not been defrauded by Ovars as alleged in Sanders' Complaint, that Sanders were not entitled to damages or rescission of contract, and the injunction previously issued precluding Ovars from foreclosing their Trust Deed should be terminated. (R. 205-206).

6. The lower court, concluded that Plaintiffs had defaulted in payments to Ovars under the Note and that Ovars were entitled to Judgment for principal and interest and for attorneys' fees and costs attributable to Ovars' counterclaim. (R. 206 and 207).

7. Based upon the foregoing, judgment (the "Judgment") was awarded by the lower court on June 6, 1988:

(a) Denying Sanders the relief requested in their complaint and terminating the injunction theretofore entered which enjoined Ovars from completing their trust deed foreclosure proceedings;

(b) Awarding judgment in favor of Ovars and against Sanders in the amount of \$40,600.50 consisting of principal, interest, costs and attorneys' fees;

(c) Adjudicating that Ovars had a valid lien on the Property and that Ovars were entitled to complete their non-judicial foreclosure of the Trust Deed. (R. 210-214).

8. Sanders' appealed the Judgment (R. 257), and the Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the Judgment by order of affirmance dated March 14, 1990. (R. 269-270).

9. Sanders then petitioned the Utah Supreme Court for a Writ of Certiorari, which petition was denied July 6, 1990. (Addendum 1.).

10. Prior to the Judgment and on February 1, 1988, Mountainwest Savings & Loan ("Mountainwest") began foreclosure proceedings on the Property pursuant to a trust deed recorded prior to the Ovarads' Trust Deed. (R. 297 Exhibit "A", p. 2) and (R. 201-202).

11. Mountainwest held its Trustee's Sale on the Property on September 1, 1988 and received from such foreclosure sale only an amount equal to that owed to Mountainwest, leaving no excess amounts available for junior encumbrances. (R. 297 Exhibit "A", pp. 2-3).

12. On August 7, 1990, Ovarads filed a motion for deficiency judgment in the amount of the Judgment, plus interest and attorneys' fees, (R. 289-297), but withdrew such motion on August 31, 1990. (R. 329-330). The motion was withdrawn because it was determined that in light of Ovarads' security having been exhausted by Mountainwest's trust deed sale, such motion was unnecessary and that Ovarads could proceed to execute directly on the Judgment. (R. 349).

13. Sanders filed a motion for an order clarifying the Judgment and seeking credit against the Judgment for the fair market value of the Property which Sanders would have received if Ovars had conducted a trust deed sale after being awarded the Judgment. (R. 329-336).

14. The trial court entered its order clarifying the Judgment and ordering that:

(a) The Judgment entitled Ovars to proceed with a non-judicial foreclosure sale, but did not require them to do so;

(b) The Judgment is a valid and binding judgment and Ovars are entitled to collect thereon;

(c) The first lienholder [Mountainwest] had already foreclosed on the Property, and any lien Ovars may have had on the Property had been extinguished and Ovars were entitled to maintain a direct action to collect on the Judgment.

(R. 284-286).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Ovars, as a junior lienholder, did not violate the one action rule by not bidding at the trust deed foreclosure sale of a senior lienholder or by not holding their own foreclosure sale. Any loss of value of the property is not the fault or responsibility of Ovars, but is the fault of Sanders for not paying the senior lien and thus causing its foreclosure. Limitation on the amount of

deficiencies in trust deed foreclosures is not applicable to this case and does not limit the amount of the Judgment. Ovarads are entitled to collect the full amount of the Judgment, and they are entitled to attorney's fees on appeal.

### ARGUMENT

I. Ovarads' Actions as a Junior Lienholder Have Not Violated Utah's "One Action Rule".

A. Utah's One Action Rule.

The one action rule is found in Utah Code Ann. § 78-37-1 (1953), and provides that "There can be one action for the recovery of any debt or the enforcement of any right secured solely by mortgage upon real estate . . . ." While this rule refers to mortgages, it is well established that the provision applies equally to trust deeds. City Consumer's Services, Inc. v. Peters, 815 P.2d 234, 236 (Utah 1991); First Sec. Bank v. Felger, 658 F.Supp. 175, 181 (D. Utah 1987). The rule allows a lender to pursue a borrower on a deficiency claim only after the collateral has been exhausted through foreclosure by the lender or by a senior lienholder. Felger at 181; Lockhart v. Equitable Realty Co., 657 P.2d 1333, 1334 (Utah 1983).

The purpose of the one action rule, often referred to as the security first rule, is two-fold. First, it is "to protect the

borrower against a multiplicity of actions when the separate actions are so closely connected that normally they can and should be decided in one proceeding. The second purpose is to compel a lienholder who has been given a lien on land to exhaust his security before attempting to reach any unmortgaged property to satisfy his lien. G. Nelson & D. Whitman, Real Estate Finance Law, § 8.2 (2d ed. 1985). The lienholder cannot disregard his security nor may there be a waiver of the security through a provision in the mortgage or trust deed.

B. The Exception to the One Action Rule.

The consequences of the one action rule can be avoided if lenders, such as Ovarids, satisfy the conditions for the exception to the rule. That is, a lender can exercise his right to recover on the debt that was once secured by a lien on real property if the security has been lost through no fault of the lender. The court in Lockhart stated that the "Mortgagee must show the security has been foreclosed and sold or otherwise lost by no fault of the mortgagee . . . ." Lockhart at 1336. See also, City Consumer Services, Inc. v. Peters, 815 P.2d 234, 236 (1991); Cache Valley Banking Company v. Logan, 56 P.2d 1046, 1049 (Utah 1936). .

Appellants claim that Ovarids' were required by the one action rule to protect their security by purchasing the Property at

Mountainwest's foreclosure sale, or by holding their own foreclosure sale.

The issue of whether a junior lienholder is at fault by not bidding at a senior lienholder's foreclosure sale arose in Felger. Judge Winder ruled in favor of the non-bidding junior lienholder bank. As a matter of law, "the bank's action in allowing the second lien to be extinguished by not bidding at the sale of the first priority trust deed was not negligent or blameworthy." Id. at 182.

This Court more recently in Peters held that a junior lienholder is not barred by the one action rule from proceeding against the debtor after the junior lienholder failed to bid at a senior lienholder's trust deed sale. Peters, dealt with the same issue as presented in the instant case. The Court reasoned that the effect of the one action rule is to regulate the procedure of recovery by a secured creditor, but not to deny the right to recover. Peters at 237. Further, the court stated that a junior lienholder's failure to participate in a senior lienholder's foreclosure is not blameworthy. "It was no fault of the junior lienholder that the security for its note was lost. The fault is rather with the debtor for failing to pay the first mortgage and thus causing it to be foreclosed." Id. at 236, quoting Logan at 1049.



Utah's one action rule is virtually identical to California's version of the one action rule. Peters at 236. In interpreting California's One Action Rule, Justice Traynor in Roseleaf Corp. v. Chierighino, 378 P.2d 97 (Cal. Sup. Ct. 1963), emphasized that once a senior lienholder had exhausted the security, a junior lienholder was free to execute and enforce his right to recover. Supportive reasoning given by Justice Traynor, and as quoted by this court in Peters, involves comparing the respective positions of a junior and senior lienholder:

The position of a junior lienor whose security is lost through a senior sale is different from that of a selling senior lienor. A selling senior can make certain that the security brings an amount equal to his claim against the debtor or the fair market value, whichever is less, simply by bidding in for that amount. **He need not invest any additional funds.** The junior lienor, however, is in no better position to protect himself than is the debtor. Either would have to invest additional funds to redeem or buy in at the sale. Equitable considerations favor placing this burden on the debtor, not only because it is his fault that provokes the senior sale, but also because he has the benefit of his bargain with the junior lienor who, unlike the selling senior, might otherwise end up with nothing.

Roseleaf at 100, cited by Peters at 236-237. (Emphasis added in Peters).

Thus, Ovarde, as a junior lienholder, are not required to go through a fruitless procedure. They decided not to hold their own foreclosure sale or to bid at the first lienholder's foreclosure

sale. There was no economic justification for doing so. This is sufficient reason for their action or inaction

II. Ovards Were Not Required to Hold Their Own Foreclosure Sale.

Sanders' argues that the Judgment required Ovards to immediately conduct their own foreclosure sale after entry of the Judgment and notwithstanding that Mountainwest had already commenced its non-judicial foreclosure proceedings. The basis for Sanders' position is paragraph 6. of the Judgment, which states that Ovards were entitled to complete their non-judicial foreclosure of the Trust Deed and providing for a procedure by which Ovards would seek a deficiency if there was a deficiency after such a sale. (R. 213, Addendum 2.).

While the Judgment stated Ovards were entitled to complete foreclosure of the Trust Deed it did not state that they were required to do so, and the basis for this provision in the Judgment was not that the lower court was ordering Ovards to complete their foreclosure. Rather, the reason for such provision is found in the lower court's finding of fact number 11. (R. 203, Addendum 3.). In their reply to Ovards' counterclaim seeking to foreclose the Trust Deed as a mortgage, Sanders' asserted an affirmative defense of election of remedies (R. 81). Evidently, Sanders were asserting that Ovards had elected to foreclose the Trust Deed through the

non-judicial foreclosure proceeding and therefore could not later seek to foreclose the Trust Deed as a mortgage notwithstanding that Sanders had sought and obtained an injunction against Ovars proceeding with the non-judicial foreclosure proceeding.

This issue of whether Ovars, if successful at trial, would proceed with non-judicial or judicial foreclosure of the Trust Deed was resolved by the court and the parties prior to trial as noted in the above referenced finding of fact. As in the Judgment, the court did not in the finding of fact require Ovars to conduct a foreclosure sale. The court simply noted in finding of fact number 11 that this issue had been raised by Sanders and that it would be resolved by Ovars proceeding with the remedy of a non-judicial foreclosure sale if they were successful at trial. The court later so clarified the Judgment. (R. 284-286, Addendum 4.).

By the time Ovars were successful at trial and had obtained the Judgment, Mountainwest had already commenced its non-judicial foreclosure proceeding and completed it just under three months later. Based upon Mountainwest's pending and ongoing foreclosure proceeding, Ovars determined not to conduct their own foreclosure sale prior to Mountainwest's foreclosure sale. Because Ovars were in a position junior to Mountainwest, any foreclosure sale conducted by Ovars and any purchase at that sale would have been inferior and subject to Mountainwest's position and sale, whether

Ovards' sale occurred prior to or subsequent to Mountainwest's sale.

III. Ovards are entitled to Collect the Full Amount of the Judgment.

A. Equity Does Not Bar Ovards From Pursuing Collection of the Full Amount of the Judgment.

Sanders' argues that in failing to protect their interest in the Property prior to Mountainwest's foreclosure sale, Ovards caused Sanders to lose a claimed equity amount in the property over and above Mountainwest's lien and that the equities involved require that the Judgment should be reduced by that amount.

Even if there was equity in the property over and above Mountainwest's lien, such exact situation existed in Peters, where the property in that case was appraised at \$70,000, the first lienholder was owed approximately \$50,000 and the second lienholder was owed approximately \$17,000. Peters at 235. It could thus have been projected that the second lienholder could have purchased at the first lienholder's sale by paying the approximately \$50,000 to the first lienholder, and the second lienholder could then have made itself whole on the \$17,000 owed to it out of the \$20,000 equity remaining after payment to the first lienholder. Nevertheless, this Court did not require such action by a junior lienholder.

Furthermore, this Court has held that it is not the fault of a junior lienholder that property securing such lien is lost through foreclosure by a first lienholder.

It was no fault of the Plaintiff that the security for its note was lost. The fault is rather with Defendant for failing to pay the first mortgage and thus causing it to be foreclosed.

Logan, supra at 1049. Also, as Justice Traynor stated:

A junior lienholder is in no better position to protect himself than is a debtor. He either would have to invest additional funds to buy or protect the property. Equitable considerations favor placing this burden on the debtor, not only because it is his fault that provokes the senior sale, but also because he has the benefit of his bargain with the junior lienor who, unlike the selling lienor, might otherwise end up with nothing.

Roseleaf, supra at 100.

Therefore, the burden of protecting property subject to multiple liens falls upon the debtor, not the creditor. The debtor not only causes loss from foreclosure and sale by the first lienholder by not having paid the first lien, but also has received the benefit of a second lien by receipt of the consideration for which the second lien was given. Thus, contrary to Sanders' position, it is they who were required to have protected the Property by prior redemption or by bidding at Mountainwest's

foreclosure sale, and they cannot complain that Ovarads did not do so.

B. Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-32 (1953) Does Not Require Limitation of the Amount of the Judgment.

Without citing Utah Code Ann. 57-1-31 (1953), Sanders' claim and argue for its benefit. This statute limits any deficiency after a trust deed sale to the difference between the total amount owed to the creditor and the fair market value of the property sold. Sanders' argue that the Judgment should be reduced by the amount which fair market value of the Property exceeded the amount of Mountainwest's lien.

This Court held in Peters that § 57-1-31 is not applicable to a junior lienholder when the security has been lost through a prior foreclosure by a senior lienholder.

IV. Ovarads are Entitled to Attorney's Fees on Appeal.

The trial court ruled that Ovarads were entitled to and it awarded them contractual attorney's fees against Sanders for their default under the Note and in connection with Ovarads' counterclaim. The Judgment, including attorney's fees, has been affirmed by the Utah Court of Appeals. This appeal involves rights asserted by Ovarads in the counterclaim and that portion of the Judgment awarded on the counterclaim.

The general rule is that when a party who received attorney's fees in the trial court prevails on appeal, that party is also entitled to attorney's fees on appeal. Utah Dept. of Social Services v. Adams, 806 P.2d 1193, 1197 (Utah 1991). Contractual provisions for payment of attorney's fees include fees incurred by the prevailing party on appeal. Management Services Corp. v. Development Associates, 617 P.2d 406, 409 (Utah 1980).

Ovards should be awarded attorney's fees, and remand should be made to the trial court to determine the amount of such fees.

#### CONCLUSION